#### SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI NO. 2006-KA-01957-SCT

**AARON BISHOP** 

**APPELLANT** 

**VERSUS** 

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

**APPELLEE** 

# APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF ATTALA COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

#### **BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT**

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

**Attorney for Appellant:** 

Ray T. Price (MSB Ray T. Price, P. A. P.O. Box 1546 Hattiesburg, MS 39403-1546 (601) 545-3336

## SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI NO. 2006-KA-01957-SCT

**AARON BISHOP** 

**APPELLANT** 

**VERSUS** 

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

**APPELLEE** 

#### STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT

# **STATEMENT OF ISSUES**

I.. THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN ADMITTING THE SUPPOSED HEARSAY STATEMENTS OF THE CHILD PURSUANT TO M.R.E. 803(25) IN VIOLATION OF AARON BISHOP'S SIXTH AMENDMENT RIGHT TO CONFRONT THE WITNESSES AGAINST HIM AS WELL AS UNDER ARTICLE 3, SEC. 26 OF THE MISSISSIPPI CONSTITUTION OF 1890.

# STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Aaron Bishop was initially charged with sexual battery and lustful touching of a child in the Justice Court of Attala County on April 18, 2006. Subsequently, a jury indicted him on August 9, 2006. After numerous pre-trial motions had been heard, the case proceeded to trial before a jury, which convicted him on September 29, 2006. Aaron filed post-trial motions which were heard and denied on October 2, 2006. From this judgment, he prosecutes this appeal.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

Aaron Bishop was convicted of this terrible crime based upon factual testimony which was incompetent and alleged "expert" testimony which was received in evidence despite being not only based on the incompetent witness' hearsay but also clearly inadmissible under <u>Daubert</u>.

Aaron and Christie Bishop had been married for five years at the time these events allegedly occurred. They had previously been separated and filed for divorce, but had reconciled at the time these allegations arose. They have one child, Madison, who had just turned four immediately prior to her alleged statements to her mother. The family lived in a rural part of Attala County and shared a small home with Christie Bishop's sister, Missy. Aaron worked for a railroad company and was frequently away from the home for extended periods of time.

Christie Bishop appeared at the Attala County Sheriff's Department on the morning of April 5, 2006 and alleged that Madison made statements to her the previous evening and the following day which would constitute sexual abuse against Madison by her father, Aaron. According to her testimony at a pretrial hearing, Christie alleged:

Madison was taking a bath, and she came to me, and she asked me -- well, first off, she had what they call "slap cheek." It's the common name for it, had bumps all over her body. And she asked me if she could show her daddy her bumps on her tutu. And I told her, I said, "No, we don't show daddies our tutus, and you don't see daddies' tutus either." And then she said to me, "well, I have already seen it." and she told me that it was long and tall and that she had sucked it. And I asked her later on that evening whenever we were alone if she could tell me more about what she had been talking about previously. And she said, "well, I sucked it," and she told me it tasted really nasty. She said that he told her never to bite it, and she told me that it spit on her. And I didn't ask her anything else about it (TR-49).

At the Sheriff's Department, Christie Bishop reported these allegations and the Sheriff's Department arranged for an interview of Madison by Glenda Nell, a worker with the Department of Human Services. Also present during this interview were Amy Lee, also of the Department of

Human Services and Mr. Zelle Shaw, of the Attala County Sheriff's Department. During this interview, which was not recorded in any manner, Madison did not repeat any allegations of abuse by her father or anyone else.

Glenda Nell informed Christie Bishop that no abuse was confirmed by the interview, but stated "the worker informed Christie that the forensic interview would hopefully obtain information from Madison in regards to the allegations. Christie agreed to take Madison to see Dr. Betty Turner at the Kosciusko Medical Clinic due to the allegations." (C-64) Still on April 5, Madison was taken by her mother to see Dr. Betty Turner at the Kosciusko Medical Clinic as agreed. Although the purpose of the visit was to attempt to ascertain any physical signs of abuse, Christie Bishop repeated the allegations and statements she claimed Madison had told her to Dr. Turner in Madison's presence. After a thorough examination, Dr. Turner found absolutely no physical signs of abuse.

Next, on April 10, 2006, Christie Bishop took Madison to Trudi Porter, Ph.D., whom Glenda Nell had stated she wanted to use because "she has been known to get through to children." (CP-65)

Despite Dr. Porter's familiarity with nationally recognized protocols for forensic interviewing of children of alleged sexual abuse, Dr. Porter did not follow those guidelines, "because of time constraints." According to Dr. Porter, "and I spoke with her and attempted to get her to talk to me by use of non-leading, non-suggestive questions. And she basically exhibited some very concerning behaviors. She was not old enough or developmentally advanced enough to give a clear narrative account of her experiences, and in fact, her language skills were not developed enough to even give real clear direct answers to all questions." (TR-14) Dr. Porter, deviating from the standard protocols allegedly because of the child's unresponsiveness, then resorted to leading questions. According to Dr. Porter's testimony, she asked Madison "did somebody show you his tutu? Did some body make you touch his tutu, kiss his tutu?" And she initially said no. And then she spontaneously said, "not

my daddy's tutu." And I said, "what about your daddy's tutu?" And that was the first time I used the word daddy was after she did, and that's when she said, "it's nasty. Yuck. Yuck." Asked by the prosecutor whether she thought Madison's story was credible, Dr. Porter candidly admitted "I really unfortunately can't judge the credibility of her story. There is too many, there is just too many missing pieces that we don't have a -- we don't have the ability in science at this point to say what a typical story of sexual abuse looks like." (TR-16)

Aaron's trial counsel questioned Dr. Porter as to the purpose of a forensic psychological interview. She answered "The purpose is simply to document what the child has to say about what has given rise to these allegations. It's not a fact finding mission. That is the purpose of the fuller investigation, that the interview is a piece of that investigation, but not the full investigation. But it is an important part of it, and it's biggest role being that it documents what the child has to say and protects the child from multiple interviews. So if it's done well, it gets everything that the child has to say down, and then the next person who needs information doesn't' have to come behind you and ask that child questions again; and then the next person asks the child questions again and again and again because those repeated questions tend to compromise the quality of the statement that you are going to get and tend to harm the child." Counsel further inquired "Do those repeated interviews that you are discussing lead to distortion of the child's memory?" To which she responded "Quite often." (TR- 19-20) When later questioned about suggestibility of children's recollections, Dr. Porter explained "It means exactly what it says; that the suggestibility of a child witness that you can effectively say something to them and it can get them confused to the point that they remember things that didn't happen, or they incorporate things into their memory so their memory becomes distorted, and they can, they can just become quite confused, and their memory can get distorted." According to Dr. Porter, Madison Bishop at age 4 was at the peak age of suggestibility. (TR-36)

Dr. Porter further opined that Madison was not competent to testify and did not know the difference between the truth and a lie. (Tr. 43) Finally, Dr. Porter testified that she believed it would be harmful to Madison to be forced to testify in open court in front of Aaron regarding the allegations. That harmful effect, she further opined, would be reduced if Madison were allowed to testify in the judges chambers via closed circuit television. (Tr. 47) Dr. Porter's report after her interview with Madison was inconclusive and had two simple recommendations. "Number One: Non abuse explanations for the child's disclosure should be sought. At the time of this interview, none were apparent. Number Two: The child should not be repeatedly questioned about these events, as repeated interviewing can lead to distortions of memory." (Cp-21) It should be noted that Dr. Porter had unquestioned credentials as a forensic child psychologist and at least attempted to follow scientifically validated protocols in interviewing Madison and rendering her opinions.

At the recommendation of the Department of Human Services and/or the Attala County Sheriff's Department, Madison was referred to and "treated" by Brenda B. Donald, who's qualifications, or rather lack thereof, were hotly contested. Brenda Donald was a licensed clinical social worker who admitted that she was not an expert in forensic interviewing of children. (TR-163) Despite her lack of expertise, the trial court allowed her to give extensive testimony concerning statements allegedly made by Madison to her during the course of "play therapy." These statements which were repeated by Ms. Donald to the jury over Aaron's objection were unreliable and went far beyond the initial alleged disclosure made to Christie Bishop by Madison.

In the pretrial hearings to exclude Ms. Donald's testimony, the prosecution asked Ms. Donald "All this that you in these therapy sessions, is that based on some kind of national protocol or some kind of —" to which Ms. Donald responded "It is based on the type of therapy that is rooted from, I mean from years and years ago that has to do with expression, whether it was in the sand tray, arts,

play, just verbal expression, et cetera, that she was able to express the same information, when she would bring that up about her dad, and there was constancy." The prosecution then asked, "What was the purpose of these therapy sessions?" Ms. Donald responded "My purpose of it is for healing. She was at the point that she was coming in, they said that she was very moody. She was acting out. She acted angry. She had torn up toys like her Barbie, et cetera just — but the purpose of it was to try to heal the trauma that she was describing." (TR-181) Ms. Donald also stated "And in this situation, what we were trying to do is try to separate that and help them on their own experience, try to separate it and try to keep it as pure as possible because sometimes it is tainted by others. But help them to connect because there is such a disintegration between what they went through and what they were told about it. There is distortion a lot of times. It is to try to get the experience in their words and then try to integrate the emotions that go with it, and then to be able to express. (TR-178) Ms. Donald was admitted by the court as an expert in "child therapy." (TR-168) It is critical to point out that Brenda Donald never expected to be called into court to testify regarding her therapy sessions. When questioned closely about the purpose and nature of her sessions with Madison, she made this abundantly clear. She was pressed by trial counsel who asked, "are you aware that repeated interviewing can lead to distortions in the child's memory?" She answered "Yes." And then was asked "And are you also aware that you were the sixth or seventh person to interview Madison about this subject?" She responded "Yes. Well, not about the subject as much as when she would bring it up - if she brought it up, I would reflect back, but I did not go into this with a protocol with specific quizzing of this child or interviewing of this child about sexual abuse. Better, a better expression of that was I was the sixth person that she expressed this to, not that I quizzed her about. And I was in a very different role in law enforcement, DHS, or Trudi Porter as far as doing that type of interviewing." (TR - 193)

When counsel pressed her as to whether or not the interviews she conducted should be recorded for accuracy, she responded "No. Maybe if it's for the purpose of – if it was for the purpose of doing this forensic interview, that is one thing. But I think, I meant I don't, I mean I want this child safe. I want her to be ok. I want her to grow up and be a healthy individual. But I don't feel comfortable ever coming into a courtroom and sharing what someone has told in confidence to me." Trial counsel further pushed "My question was if in a very serious matter someone asked you to rely on the statements a child made during an interview, don't you think it would be important to have the best recollection of the interview humanly possible?" She responded "I didn't know that is what I was asked to do though. That is not, that wasn't my role." Trial counsel then stated and asked "I'm not saying it was, ma'am. I'm not accusing you of doing anything wrong in your job. I am just asking you if you had to rely on a statement made by a four year old and your life depended on it, would you want that interview to be recorded?" She responded "Probably so." (TR-195-96)

In spite of the objection to Dr. Donald's testimony, she was allowed to repeat statements made to her by the child during the course of her "play therapy" sessions. These statements went far beyond those made during the previous five interviews of Madison, which were incredible enough, and morphed over time into bizarre statements belied by and contradicted by the physical facts. The child's mother stated that the child told her she'd seen daddy's tutu, it was long and tall and she had sucked it, it tasted nasty it spit on her and he told her never to bite it (Tr. 49, 55). The child did not disclose any abuse to DHS and sheriff's personnel in their interview. The physical exam conducted by an M.D., where the child was present while the mother described these statements revealed no evidence of trauma to the child's vaginal or rectal areas. At Dr. Porter's forensic interview, the child "was not old enough or developmentally advanced enough to give a clear narrative account of her experiences, and in fact, her language skills were not developed

enough to give real clear direct answers to all questions" (Tr. 14). In response to leading questions after departing from the interview protocol the child initially denied abuse then repeated the same things she had told the mother. Dr. Porter testified that "I had asked her in order to direct her attention to the subject matter at hand, "Did somebody show you his tutu? Did somebody make you touch his tutu, kiss his tutu?" And she initially said no. And then she spontaneously said, "Not my daddy's tutu." She then made statements consistent with the mothers (Tr. 15). Dr. Porter was concerned but believed non-abuse explanations should be ruled out and could not say whether abuse had occurred or not. (Tr. 16).

After the child began the nine "play therapy" sessions with Brenda Donald, the following additional and inconsistent statements were supposedly made by the child to Ms. Donald. "She then said that he touched her tutu when she pointed to herself" (Tr. 169). "He put a toy that makes noise in his booty." She said it was "blue with stripes." She said he keeps it "under his bed." (Tr. 170). She said, "he put his tutu, his big old tutu in my hiney. And she held her hands about two feet apart indicating the size." She said "it hurt." She "talked about seeing poo-poo come out of his poo-poo thingie." (Tr. 172). She said "his tutu squirted on her here. She pointed to her genital area." She said "it hurt" in the genital area. She pointed to her genital area and said "he licked me here, and it tickled." (Tr. 173). She said of the toy "sometimes he puts it in the closet. She talked about him showing pictures of his tutu, "in his hand to my eyes to see" and that he kept the pictures "in a box." She said "I pee-pee on my Daddy." She said "Pee-pee came down my booty" and drew a line "from his genital area to her anal area." (Tr. 174).

#### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

The conviction obtained against Aaron Bishop resulted solely from the trial court's decision to allow testimony regarding hearsay statements allegedly made by a four-year old child, whom the trial court had properly ruled incompetent as a witness due to her inability to distinguish the difference between the truth and a lie.

After ruling the child incompetent, the trial court erred in allowing others to testify as to statements allegedly made to them by the child. Since the child did not know the difference between the truth and a lie, none of the statements should have been admitted, as they were irrelevant and unreliable.

The trial court further erred in allowing the testimony of a therapist, Trudi Porter, who elicited hearsay statements from the child using "play therapy." Ms. Porter elicited was not Daubert-qualified to testify, nor does play therapy meet the standards required to pass the Daubert test of being a science.

The trial court further erred in finding and considering that there was evidence corroborating the hearsay statements, under M.R.E. 803(25), violating Aaron Bishop's confrontation rights under the Supreme Court of the United States decision in <u>Idaho v. Wright</u>, 497 U.S. 805 (1990).

#### **ARGUMENT**

I. THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN ADMITTING THE SUPPOSED HEARSAY STATEMENTS OF THE CHILD PURSUANT TO M.R.E. 803(25) IN VIOLATION OF AARON BISHOP'S SIXTH AMENDMENT RIGHT TO CONFRONT THE WITNESSES AGAINST HIM AS WELL AS UNDER ARTICLE 3, SEC. 26 OF THE MISSISSIPPI CONSTITUTION OF 1890.

The circuit court admitted numerous hearsay statements by the child regarding the alleged abuse under M.R.E. 803(25). Since there existed not a scintilla of physical evidence and the only other evidence received was an alleged corroborating statement made by Aaron, this evidence was extremely important to the State's case at trial and its erroneous admission undoubtedly resulted in the finding of guilt by the jury. It is crucial to first consider the reason why the State was required to resort to this type of evidence: the trial court found the child incompetent to testify. Such finding resulted from the testimony of the State's own forensic psychologist who was the first and only properly qualified examiner to interview the child. At pre-trial hearings, Trudi Porter, Ph.D., testified in response to questioning by the Court "I don't think she is competent, your honor, to testify. . . . I do not think she has the ability to communicate with the jury. She doesn't always answer questions directly. She does not verbally communicate in a reliable fashion. You could even ask her, you know, can you count to ten, and if she feels like answering your question, she will. But if she doesn't she might look out the window and tell you about the tree. She is just too immature." (Tr. 43). In response to Aaron's trial counsel's question, "... was she able to demonstrate to your satisfaction that she understood the difference between a truth and a lie?" Dr. Porter flat-out stated, "No." (Tr. 35).

Dr. Porter further noted that Madison was at the peak age for suggestibility, meaning that,
"... you can get them confused to the point that they remember things that didn't happen, or they

incorporate things into their memory so their memory becomes distorted, and they can, they can just become quite confused, and their memory can get distorted." (Tr. 36).

The State's other "expert" testified most extensively regarding statements of the alleged abuse by the child to her, despite her clearly not intending to ever be used to provide forensic testimony, not intending to elicit accurate information to be used in court, her clearly not being Daubert-qualified to testify and her own admissions that the child's statements to her might not be accurate but the product of repeated questioning. The statements she testified to went far above and beyond anything the child had ever said to anyone else and some were clearly not possible as far as what the other statements and evidence demonstrated.

Although the trial court made its ruling regarding Ms. Donald's testimony under M.R.E. 803(25)(the tender-years exception), the court also seemed to strongly rely on M.R.E. 803(4), Statements for Purposes of Medical Diagnosis or Treatment. Neither is a firmly-rooted hearsay for Confrontation Clause purposes. <u>Idaho v. Wright</u>, 497 U.S. 805 (1990). Therefore any such statements, in order to be admitted above a confrontation clause assertion as made by Aaron, must contain "particularized guarantees of trustworthiness" equivalent to those recognized by the firmly-rooted hearsay exceptions. None of the statements admitted at trial met this standard, most glaringly those which were admitted through Ms. Donald.

The trial court seemed to ignore both Ms. Donald's own admission of her lack of qualification, lack of intent to obtain forensic statements and the difference between forensic and therapeutic psychology, particularly with regard to childhood sex abuse allegations and reliance on statements made in this child's "play-therapy" sessions with Ms. Donald. With regard to Ms. Donald's testimony, it clearly therefore does not exhibit constitutionally sufficient particularized guarantees of trustworthiness.

The trial court found that the child was incompetent as a witness due to Dr. Porter's testimony and opinion then allowed her testimony indirectly through Brenda Donald. The trial court's ruling flies in the face of the law, common sense and Aaron Bishop's rights under the State and federal constitutions to confront the witnesses against him.

By determining that the child was incompetent due to her inability to determine the difference between the truth and a lie the trial court should have concluded, *ipso facto*, that any testimony concerning statements made by her were inadmissible. That conclusion is the only logical next step in considering the admissibility of her statements. If the court determines that she is not qualified to testify under oath and be cross-examined in front of the jury because of her inability to distinguish between the truth and a lie, then how can her statements made out of court, to her mother or in "play therapy" be deemed reliable? Every single witness questioned on the subject, including Brenda Donald, testified that the repeated discussion of the allegations had been proven to lead to distortions in children's memory. The progression and escalation of the child's statements to include ever more severe allegations totally inconsistent with the findings of her physical examine point strongly to distortion of this child's recollections. The child's later statements included references to penetration of her and to use of sexual toys by Aaron which were not corroborated by either her initial interviews, examinations or any independent evidence of the existence of such toys. Because the testimony was incompetent, it was therefore not relevant under M.R.E. 402.

## A. LACK OF DAUBERT QUALIFICATIONS

Ms. Donald quite candidly admitted that she was not qualified in forensic interviewing and did not want to be, preferring to focus her practice on therapy. In therapy in the child-abuse context, the truth or falsity of the allegation is not the focus, as demonstrated by Ms. Donald's own testimony and demonstrated by any credible literature on the subject. Therefore, testimony on such therapy not

only does not even fit the rationale necessary to be admissible under M.R.E. 803(4), that the person making the statement would not make it were it not true, it by definition therefore does not contain particularized guarantees of trustworthiness necessary under confrontation clause analysis.

Ms. Donald had a graduate degree in clinical social work and was board certified in social work. Social work is not a scientific field. Ms. Donald also testified she was a "registered play therapist." This was the area of treatment she testified she performed with the child in this case.

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