IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

COPY

AARON BISHOP

APPELLANT

VS.



NO. 2006-KA-1957-SCT

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: LA DONNA C. HOLLAND
SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
MISSISSIPPI BAR NO.

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court properly admitted M.B.'s out-of-court statements through the testimony of Christie and Donald. The trial court conducted a pretrial hearing and conducted an M.R.E. 803(25) analysis. The court found that M.B. was unavailable to testify as a witness, her statements bore substantial indicia of reliability, and there was evidence to corroborate the acts in question. Bishop had failed to show that the trial court abused its discretion in admitting the testimony in question.

Brenda Donald was properly tendered as an expert in child therapy related to sexual abuse. The trial court performed its gate-keeping duties in determining that Donald's testimony was both relevant and reliable in accordance with M.R.E. 702. Bishop has failed to show that the trial court's findings were clearly erroneous.

Bishop's last argument is that he was denied his right to confrontation. His argument is wholly meritless, as the hearsay statements of which he complains are nontestimonial hearsay statements and outside the realm of confrontation clause violations.

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY ADMITTED M.B.'S OUT-OF-COURT STATEMENTS UNDER M.R.E. 803(25).

At a pretrial hearing, the trial court ruled that Christie and Donald could testify as to M.B.'s out-of-court statements. The trial court ruled that Dr. Trudi Porter, a forensic interviewer, could not testify as to M.B.'s out-of-court statements, because they were testimonial in nature.

"The admission of testimonial evidence is within the sound discretion of the trial court, which will be found in error only if the ruling was an abuse of discretion." Larson v. State, 957 So.2d 1005, 1011 (¶25) (Miss. Ct. App. 2006). In accordance with Rule 803(25) of the Mississippi

Rules of Evidence, the trial court found that M.B.'s statements bore substantial indicia of reliability, M.B. was unavailable as a witness, and there was corroborative evidence of the act.² Accordingly, the trial court cannot be said to have abused its discretion in allowing Christie and Donald to testify as to M.B.'s out-of-court statements.

Substantial indicia of reliability

The following factors must be considered in determining whether the statements in question bear substantial indicia of reliability:

(1) whether there is an apparent motive of declarant to lie; (2) the declarant's general character; (3) whether more than one person heard the statements; (4) whether the statements were spontaneous; (5) the timing of statements; (6) the relationship between the declarant and the witness; (7) the possibility of faulty recollection by the declarant is remote; (8) certainty that the statements were made; (9) the credibility of the witness testifying about the statements; (10) the declarant's age or maturity; (11) whether suggestive techniques were used in eliciting the statement; and (12) whether the declarant's age, knowledge and experience made it unlikely that the declarant fabricated.

Elkins v. State, 918 So.2d 828, 833 (¶14) (Miss. Ct. App. 2005). A trial court's failure to specifically address these factors does not constitute error so long as the record supports a finding that the victim's statements bore indicia of reliability. Id. at 834 (¶18) (citing Sharp v. State, 862 So.2d 576, 580 (¶15) (Miss. Ct. App. 2004)). "The circuit court must ultimately determine 'whether the child declarant was particularly likely to be telling the truth when the statement was made." Larson, 957 So.2d at 1012 (quoting Marshall v. State, 812 So.2d 1068, 1075 (¶21)).

The evidence which supports the trial court's finding that M.B.'s statements bore substantial indicia of reliability is as follows. M.B.'s initial revelation was a spontaneous statement made to her mother. T. 49. Dr. Porter testified that M.B.'s statements to her were spontaneous and that M.B.

²It was undisputed that M.B. was a child of tender years, as she was four years old at the time the statements were made.

did not appear to be coached. T. 16. Dr. Porter opined that although M.B. could not verbally demonstrate that she knew the difference between the truth and a lie, she was reliable in that her statements to her mother, Porter, and Donald have been consistent. T. 44. Donald also testified that although M.B. revealed more details to her over the course of ten sessions because she had established a good rapport with M.B. and earned her trust, M.B.'s allegations have been consistent. T. 177, 189. Donald explored non-abuse explanations for M.B.'s statements, but M.B. remained steadfast in her allegations that her father had sexually abused her. T. 191. Donald further stated that M.B.'s statements met the criteria for a credible statement of abuse, according to criteria established by American Professional Society for the Abuse of Children.

T. 179. Donald, who has worked with hundreds of sexually abused children for the past thirty years, ultimately opined that M.B.'s statements were consistent with a child who has been sexually abused.

T. 182.

The record contains ample evidence to support the trial court's finding that M.B. statements bore substantial indicia of reliability.

M.B.'s unavailability

After hearing testimony from Dr. Porter and Christie, the trial court ruled that M.B. was unavailable to testify, considering the likelihood that forcing the four-year-old to speak out against her father in his presence in open court would traumatize her. T. 70-70. A child is unavailable as a witness where there is a "substantial likelihood that the emotional or psychological health of the witness would be substantially impaired if the child had to testify in the physical presence of the accused." M.R.E. 804(a)(6). Dr. Porter's testimony regarding the likelihood of trauma if M.B. were forced to testify in open court was uncontradicted. As such, the trial court cannot be found to have abused its discretion in finding that M.B. was unavailable to testify in accordance with M.R.E.

804(a)(6).

Corroborating evidence

The trial court found that corroborative evidence of the acts existed in Bishop's admission that he had masturbated in M.B.'s presence and ejaculated on her. T. 225. The comment to M.R.E. 803(25) states, "Corroboration required for admissibility under M.R.E. 803(25)(b)(2) need not be eyewitness testimony or physical evidence, but may include confessions, doctor's reports, inappropriate conduct by the child, and other appropriate expert testimony." In addition to Bishop's admission, other corroborating evidence includes the fact that M.B. possessed sexual knowledge well beyond that of a typical four year old. M.B. was able to describe the size and shape of Bishop's penis. T. 169. She described a sexual device that Bishop used, saying, "He put a toy that makes noise in his booty." T. 170. She demonstrated in child-like terms that she understood the concept of ejaculation. T. 173. She also described the sensation that she felt when Bishop performed oral sex on her by saying that "it tickled." T. 173. Much more graphic testimony goes on for many pages, but suffice it to say that M.B.'s understanding of sexuality was both extensive and unusual for a four year old. Donald's testimony regarding M.B.'s sexual knowledge along with Bishop's admission corroborate that acts which M.B. described.

II. BRENDA DONALD'S TESTIMONY SATISFIED M.R.E. 702 AND DAUBERT.

This honorable Court will not disturb a trial court's decision to admit expert testimony unless the trial court's determination was clearly erroneous. **Cowart v. State**, 910 So.2d 726, 729 (¶11) (Miss. Ct. App. 2005). On appeal, Bishop challenges the trial court's decision to admit Brenda Donald's expert testimony.

The Mississippi Supreme Court adopted the modified **Daubert** standard for determining the admissibility of expert testimony in **Mississippi Transportation Commission v. McLemore**, 863

So.2d 31 (Miss. 2003). The McLemore court stated that the Daubert factors, which were formulated to assess the reliability of scientific testimony, may not be applicable in every case because "[t]oo much depends upon the particular circumstances of the particular case at issue." McLemore at 37 (¶13) (quoting Kumho Tire Co. v. Carmichael, 526 U.S. 137, 151 (1999)). Because the Daubert factors were meant to be helpful rather than definitive, they should be considered only when "they are reasonable measures of the reliability of expert testimony." Mooneyham v. State, 915 So.2d 1102, 1107 (Miss. Ct. App. 2005). Accordingly, "the trial court has considerable leeway in deciding in a particular case how to go about determining whether particular expert testimony is reliable." McLemore at 37 (¶13).

The McLemore court explained that the modified Daubert standard consists of a two-part test for determining whether expert testimony is reliable under M.R.E. 702. Id. at 38 (¶16).

First, the court must determine that the expert testimony is relevant-that is, the requirement that the testimony must assist the trier of fact means the evidence must be relevant. Next, the trial court must determine whether the proffered testimony is reliable. Depending on the circumstances of the particular case, many factors may be relevant in determining reliability, and the **Daubert** analysis is a flexible one. **Daubert** provides an illustrative, but not an exhaustive, list of factors that trial courts may use in assessing the reliability of expert testimony.

Id. (internal citations omitted).

The trial court correctly found that Donald's testimony was relevant in that it provided the jury with the context in which M.B.'s statements regarding the sexual abuse were made, that is, during the course of therapy. The court was also correct in finding that Donald's testimony was reliable in that Donald has been a child therapist for nearly thirty years, has treated hundreds of children who have been sexually abused, and has been qualified as an expert numerous times. T. 147-67. Additionally, the trial court correctly noted that the only expert opinion Donald rendered

was that M.B.'s statements were consistent with a child who has been sexually abused. T. 182, 218.

On appeal, Bishop does nothing more than attempt to characterize child therapy as a pseudoscience by improperly referencing and attaching a random article which is not part of the record.³ The remainder of his argument is a weak attempt to show that his expert, Dr. Huffman, was superior to Donald. However, none of these opinions are relevant in determining whether Donald's testimony was relevant and reliable. The trial court found Donald's testimony to be both relevant and reliable, and Bishop has failed to show that the trial court's determination was clearly erroneous.

III. BISHOP'S RIGHT TO CONFRONTATION WAS IN NO WAY VIOLATED.

Bishop claims that his right to confrontation was violated when the trial court admitted M.B.'s out-of-court statements through Christie and Donald's testimony. However, hearsay statements offend a defendant's constitutional right to confrontation only when the statements in question constitute testimonial hearsay. **Bailey v. State**, 956 So.2d 1016, 1027 (¶33) (Miss. Ct. App. 2007). "Where nontestimonial hearsay is at issue, it is wholly consistent with the Framers' design to afford the States flexibility in their development of hearsay law-as does [**Ohio v.**] **Roberts**, [448 U.S. 56 (1980),] and as would an approach that exempted such statements from Confrontation Clause scrutiny altogether." **Rubenstein v. State**, 941 So.2d 735, 754 -55 (¶47) (Miss. 2006) (quoting **Crawford v. Washington**, 541 U.S. 36, 68 (2004)).

"Testimonial statements are those reasonably expected to be used 'prosecutorally,' such as confessions, affidavits, custodial police examinations, and depositions." Id. at 754 (¶46). This definition is the precise reason that the trial court refused to allow Dr. Porter to testify, but did allow

³"This Court will not consider matters that do not appear in the record, and it must confine its review to what appears in the record." **Pulphus v. State**, 782 So.2d 1220, 1224 (¶15)(Miss. 2001).

Donald to testify. The court found that "the child was sent to Dr. Porter by law enforcement for the purpose of gathering evidence against Mr. Bishop." T. 71. The court found that Donald became involved strictly for the purpose of treating M.B. through therapy and not for any prosecutorial purpose. T. 209. Accordingly, the trial court properly allowed Donald to testify as to M.B.'s nontestimonial hearsay statements. Further, M.B.'s spontaneous statement to her mother cannot be characterized as testimonial hearsay.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the State asks this honorable Court to affirm Bishop's convictions and sentences.